
 1

Meeting Minutes for 
C.L.A.S.S. 

(Community Linkage Assessment and Stabilization Services) 
February 3, 2006 

 
Sebago Room 

Riverview Psychiatric Center 
Augusta, Maine 

 
Present:  Steve Addario, Sweetser; Diane L. Belanger, Turner Crisis/Rumford Group 
Homes, Inc.; Lorraine Chamberlain, AMHC; Anne Conners, Muskie; Dr. Andy Cook, 
OCFS-DHHS; Peter Driscoll, Amistad; Dr. James Fine, DHHS; Marie Gray, DHHS; Pam 
Holland, TCMHS; Priscella House, Kennebec/Somerset CRS; Elizabeth Jones, DHHS 
consultant; Kirk Little, Ingraham; Simonne M. Maline, Amistad/Maine Warm Line; 
Mary Jean Mork, Spring Harbor/MMC; Lee Rice, DHHS QI; Jeff Shapiro, DHHS 
Integrated Systems/Services; Sharon Sprague, DHHS AMHS; Rita Soulard, SMMC; and 
Roger Wentworth, Sweetser. 
 
Check In  

• Pam Holland and Diane Belanger reported that census is down, acuity is high. 
 

• Rita Soulard reported three suicides in two months in her region. 
 

• Marie Gray reported that Claire Harrison, formerly Adult Mental Health Team 
Leader in Region I, has been named the Director of Systems Integration in that 
region. Ms. Gray also announced the Homeless Marathon on February 15 and 16 
in Gray. The governor will attend on February 15. 

 
• Lorraine Chamberlain said that the number of full crisis beds increased 

dramatically in January after a holiday slowdown. She said there is an increase the 
number of acute geriatric cases. AMHC is also receiving a lot of out of area calls 
as well as an increase in the amount of time it takes to get someone in a 
psychiatric hospital. 

 
• Pam Holland reported being short staffed as well as an increase in the number of 

geriatric patients with complicated medical versus psychiatric needs.  
 

• Mary Jean Mork reported that Spring Harbor has increased its number of 
observation beds for adults. She also said there has been a huge demand for all 
levels of service: crisis, in patient, out patient. The P-6 unit at Maine Medical 
Center takes geriatric psychiatric cases from all over the state, but Ms. Mork said 
there are long waiting lists and many of these patients need private rooms. 

 
• Kirk Little said there has been an increase in the number of uninsured patients 

seeking care. He also announced a ribbon cutting ceremony on February 7 for the 



 2

statewide 211 service line. Also, a gift of oil from the government of Venezuela to 
PROP has resulted in a decrease in demand from Ingraham’s crisis fund.  

 
• Lee Rice passed out the Maine DHHS Integrated Services Office of Quality 

Improvement Crisis Services Report and said that in the future data will be 
provided electronically and monthly to C.L.A.S.S. members.  

 
• Dr. James Fine reported that he will soon be the former medical director of 

Region II and will be working at Capitol Clinic one day per week and overseeing 
care for forensic patients. The former regional medical director positions are 
being consolidated into the central office with oversight responsibilities for a 
functioning QA system. 

 
• Simonne Maline said that the Maine Warm Line reported 1,400 calls in January 

with 13 successful transfers to crisis programs. As the line has been experiencing 
a heavy volume of calls, consumers are complaining about long waits in the 
queues. Ms. Sprague said that the Department has requested additional funding in 
the Supplemental Budget to increase the Warm Line’s capacity. 

 
• Dr. Andy Cook reported that:  

 
• The Department has been busy working on plans for managed care 

implementation. Within the next few days, the federal government will make 
a decision on the state’s application for a sole source waiver. Sole source, he 
said, allows the Department to move ahead promptly whereas an RFP has a 
delay associated with it. Dr. Cook suggested that those with ideas about 
performance standards built into the MCO contract contact Chris Zukas-
Lessard.  

 
• The Department is working with Tri-County Mental Health on 

implementation of a trauma-informed system of care grant in Lewiston.  
 

• The Department is also making an offer to someone to fill the Systems 
Manager in Children’s Services position formerly held by Ron Taglienti and 
expects the person to start the position in two to three weeks.  

 
• Dr. Cook will be putting together a work group on Evidence-Based Practices 

and invites participation.  
 
Discussion on Maine’s Mental Health Network/Spring Harbor Hospital/Maine 
Medical Center’s Referral Form 
Ms. Mork distributed a form developed at Spring Harbor/MMC to address referrals under 
managed care. The form documents whether the patient’s insurance company is in 
network or out of network and if in-network facilities were tried, but no bed was 
available. Patients are also required to sign the form stating that they understand that their 
insurance company is not a participating provider in their insurance company’s network 



 3

and as such they may be liable for charges incurred. Ms. Mork said that Spring Harbor 
works hard to obtain authorizations for patients and that the new form should help the 
appropriate insurance coverage be provided without the parents or patients being billed.  
 
Ms. Chamberlain asked if Spring Harbor was working with other hospitals so a uniform 
approach will exist throughout the state, and Ms. Mork said that this has not happened 
yet. Ms. Chamberlain said she thought that the process was a very valid one.  
The clinical decisions on the patient’s status will be separate from the determination of 
those processing this form, she said. Using the form also brings the parents into the loop 
appropriately. Many parents, Ms. Mork said, know a lot about the parameters of their 
insurance coverage and it is important to bring them into the process. 
 
Action:  Ms. Mork said she would email the form to Dr. Cook for wider distribution. 
 
Minutes  
Item 3: Misdirected Phone calls. Dr. Cook said that tracking forms were passed out at the 
January meeting and asked if individuals were filling in those forms. Members responded 
that they were. Ms. Maline said that forms collected by the Warm Line had been turned 
over to Marya Faust. Sharon Sprague suggested that future forms be submitted to Aileen 
Maher at aileen.maher@maine.gov.  
 
Ms. Belanger asked that “underutilization of crisis stabilization beds” be added to point 7, 
on page 2 of the minutes, in the discussion of Region II Hospitalization Data.   
 
Discussion on Form and Structure of Future Initiative Meetings 
Ms. Sprague introduced Elizabeth Jones, formerly the receiver for the Augusta Mental 
Health Institute, and welcomed her back to the Department in her current role as a 
consultant. Ms. Sprague said that Ms. Jones will be:  
 

• Examining crisis services based on the Court Master’s December Order and the 
Department’s Action Steps for Improving Services and Continuity of Care for 
Persons Experiencing Psychiatric Crises submitted as part of the fulfillment of 
consent decree requirements.  

 
• Focus on the Action Plan and crisis systems including services the Department 

contracts with agencies to provide. 
 

• Look at the use of and possible expansion of observation beds. 
 

• Examine use of beds at Riverview.  
 

• Use of Emergency Departments as part of the crisis system. 
 
These recommendations need to be made to the Department by July. For purposes of 
resolving these issues and meeting deadlines, Ms. Sprague said that the Department 



 4

would like to combine the C.L.A.S.S. membership with that of the Hospital and Crisis 
Services Initiative.  
 
Ms. Chamberlain said that merging the two groups was discussed after Dr. Jane Haddad 
left in 2002. Initially, C.L.A.S.S. agreed to merge and then decided against it. Ms. 
Chamberlain said that she is a great supporter of joining the two groups and talking about 
the real issues. 
 
Ms. Holland said that with managed care’s increased emphasis on collaboration, 
combining the two groups will ensure a clearer understanding among providers. She said 
the merged groups should focus more on work and less on theory.  
 
Historically, Ms. Mork said, the C.L.A.S.S. group has been a supportive group where 
members discuss what is going on in the real work where the rubber hits the road. The 
Hospital and Crisis Services Initiative has been more theoretical in nature. Dr. Fine 
suggested that merging the two would create the best of both worlds.  
 
Ms. Sprague said that the Department’s vision is that the two groups would be quite 
focused because Ms. Jones will need information to make concrete recommendations to 
the Department by July. When she was at Riverview, Ms. Jones said she attended several 
Initiative meetings and that the two group’s common interests and agendas should be 
combined so the system is more effective, not just for purposes of the consent decree, but 
for issues of crisis stabilization units, continuity of care, and other clinical and systems 
issues that haven’t been resolved.  
 
Dr. Cook asked Ms. Jones to say more about the reason the Department brought her on 
board. Ms. Jones said the Department’s decision to hire her as a consultant was clearly 
driven by the fact that a community services plan has not been approved by the court 
master or Judge Mills. The critical pieces not in place are: vocational services, crisis 
stabilization units, continuity of care, and use of hospital emergency departments. “My 
job is to come in as someone who is conversant with the consent decree and come up 
with recommendations for addressing gaps so there is a clear road map,” Ms Jones said. 
She is no longer in the role of the AMHI receiver, but is instead working for the 
Department to give recommendations “based on what I see in the Department as a 
whole.”  
 
Dr. Cook asked if Ms. Jones will be looking at the in-patient units and Ms. Jones said that 
no parameters have been put on the depths of what she will look at. There are 35 patients 
at Dorothea Dix and 20 at Riverview Psychiatric Center who are ready to be discharged 
but have no where to go. This says a lot, Ms. Jones said.  
 
Another important aspect of her work, Ms. Jones said, will be bringing the client’s 
perspective into the discussion. 
 



 5

Structure of future meetings 
Ms. Jones asked that agenda items for March be emailed to her at elzjns@aol.com. Dr. 
Cook proposed having the first hour continue to be nuts and bolts issues, like the 
C.L.A.S.S meetings current structure, followed by a break, and then targeted work on Ms. 
Jones’s recommendations. 
 
Action:  Members agreed to adopt this structure and revisit the issue of merging the two 
groups in July.  
 
Ms. Sprague encouraged members to let herself or Dr. Cook know if there are other 
people/organizations who need to attend the March 3 meeting.  
 
DHHS Updates 
Ms. Sprague said that she has met with the Adult Mental Health Team Leaders regarding 
the Rapid Response Protocol and has made some revisions. The revised version of the 
protocol will be reviewed by Acting DHHS Commissioner Brenda Harvey. 
 
Dr. Cook said that he will be meeting with John Edwards and Rick Karges on the Maine 
Crisis Network’s Crisis Training Curriculum next week and thinks that it will be realistic 
to put it in practice within the next two months.  
 

NEXT MEETING 
Friday, March 3, 2006 

9 a.m.-10 a.m. 
Sebago Room 

Riverview Psychiatric Center 
Augusta, Maine 

 


